141

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE DEC 20 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN H. FARO,

Petitioner/Client,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,725 4th DCA Case No. 92-1907

ROBERT V. ROMANI and FARISH, FARISH & ROMANI,

Respondents.

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER/CLIENT JOHN FARO

JOHN BERANEK Florida Bar No. 005419 Aurell Radey Hinkle Thomas & Beranek Suite 1000, Monroe-Park Tower 101 North Monroe Street Post Office Drawer 11307 Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 681-7766

WALTER G. CAMPBELL KRUPNICK, CAMPBELL, MALONE, ROSELLI, BUSER & SLAMA, P.A. 700 Southeast Third Avenue Courthouse Law Plaza, Suite 100 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316 (305) 763-8181

and

Statement Of The Case And Facts

<u>Introduction</u>

This is a merits brief directed to an opinion by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in an attorney's charging lien proceeding. The petitioner John Faro was the client in a personal injury suit. The respondent, Robert Romani, was the attorney who initially represented Faro in the suit under a contingency fee contract. Romani withdrew from the case but <u>not</u> because the representation would have caused him to do anything unethical. The district court's opinion affirming a fee award to Romani was issued October 13, 1993. The opinion certified one question regarding attorney's fees after withdrawal as a matter of great public importance and further certified a conflict between districts on a separate issue of whether findings of fact are necessary in attorney fees/breach of contract cases. This brief is accompanied by an appendix which contains the opinion of the district court of appeal and Judge Burnstein's order below.¹

Throughout this brief "good cause" will be used to mean: legally sufficient grounds upon which a lawyer may withdraw from a contingency fee contract and still be entitled to payment of a fee from the client. Petitioner (the client here) suggests that "good cause" should be defined by this court solely as: a circumstance caused exclusively by the client which makes the lawyer's performance of the contract either (i) impossible under Florida

¹ The 195 page transcript of the hearing on the charging lien before Judge Miette Bernstein is referred to as $(Tr._)$ and the pleadings are designated as $(R._)$.

law, or (2) unethical under Florida Professional Rules or principles. All contracts of any nature have an implied escape hatch based on impossibility of performance. Attorney fee contracts, with their overriding ethical duties, should have the additional escape hatch based on unethical conduct. However, if a lawyer <u>can</u> continue to perform his side of the contract both legally and ethically, then he can not withdraw early and still demand a fee. Of course the lawyer, for his own reasons, can always walk away from the representation and the contract and abandon his fee.

Factual Overview

This matter involves an attorney's successful assertion of a charging lien for fees based on a failed contingency fee contract despite (1) the lawyer's voluntary withdrawal because of his client's refusal to accept a settlement offer, (2) the client's objections to the withdrawal, (3) the adverse effect of the timing of the withdrawal at the critical stage of settlement negotiations shortly before trial, and (4) the necessity to hire and pay replacement counsel who then duplicated the first lawyer's services in obtaining a higher recovery despite prejudice resulting from the withdrawal. Faro is himself a lawyer but never represented himself In short, trial counsel Robert Romani fired his client herein. Faro on the eve of trial because trial counsel thought the case should be settled for less than the client was willing to accept. Faro always sought to have Romani continue with his representation and demanded he proceed with the scheduled jury trial.

Mr. Faro suffered injury and resulting mental rather than physical disability in an automobile accident. There has never been any question that there was a serious accident and a legitimate injury. (Tr.97). Faro, who does patent work, retained attorney Robert Romani, a certified personal injury trial lawyer, (R.375-76). Faro entered into a written to represent him. contingency fee contract with Romani and the firm of Farish, Farish (R.375-76). In general, Romani promised to pursue & Romani. Client Faro's claim through trial and appeal and assumed the risk of receiving no fee in the event of no recovery. (R.375-76). In return for this promise and assumed risk, Client Faro agreed that he would pay the costs of the litigation and, in the event of a recovery by Attorney Romani, to pay him 30% of such recovery. (R.375-76).

Unlike the standard form of agreement, Romani included in this Contingent Fee Contract the following "anti-compromise" provision requiring Romani's consent to any settlement:

Said suit or claim shall not be in any manner settled or compromised without the consent and to the mutual satisfaction of both parties to this agreement. (R.375-76).

In October of 1990, Romani filed suit against Faro's uninsured motorist carrier, Amica Mutual Insurance Company for the injuries Faro had sustained eight months earlier. (R.196-98). The primary damage claim was for mental disability from a blow to the head. The case was set for trial three times, initially on the docket of March 11, then on July 1 and ultimately for September 23, 1991. (R.7, 205, 221-22, 271; Tr.7).

Negotiations with Amica resulted in a settlement offer which Faro rejected. Faro and Attorney Romani gave conflicting testimony as to the terms of this offer. Client Faro's understanding of the offer obtained orally from Romani was that it was a structured settlement with a present value of approximately \$600,000. (Tr.160). Client Faro understood that Romani was to receive the cash portion of the settlement as his "negotiated fee" with Faro receiving the future annuity payments. (Tr.160). Romani testified that Amica also made an alternative cash offer of \$600,000, but Romani presented no documentation of the offer. Romani never contested that he had negotiated his cash fee as part of the initial structured settlement offer. (Tr.168-69).

Faro rejected the settlement offer and at this point Romani said the situation deteriorated because he learned Faro had "a different agenda." (Tr.122). Romani explained what he meant by this phrase. According to this explanation, Romani's "agenda" was a fair evaluation of the merits of the case while Faro's "different agenda" was simply to get enough money from the case to retire from law practice. (Tr.120, 122, 123). Following this rejected offer, Romani said he asked for authority to settle the claim for \$750,000 which he said Faro refused. (R.143-44, 158). Faro said Romani merely wanted blanket authority to settle the case. In any event, Romani received no other offers and the demand of Faro for settlement authority was the last "effort" made by him on Faro's behalf. (R.159-60).

Client Faro's rejection of the \$600,000 offer and Romani's strong belief that the case ought to be settled and definitely not taken to trial were the reasons Attorney Romani filed his motion to withdraw just before the third trial date. Obviously the case had been fully prepared by then and Romani testified he was absolutely (Tr.148). Although there had been some ready to go to trial. early difficulty regarding depositions, Romani had been successful in completing discovery and being fully ready to try the case. Romani also agreed that his client, Mr. Faro, had (Tr.110, 148). testified <u>truthfully and forthrightly</u> on his own two pretrial depositions. (Tr.111). Although Romani was somewhat disappointed with Faro's good appearance which he described as being too "sharp", there was no problem whatsoever with Faro truthfulness. (Tr.111). Romani had evaluated Faro's personal injury claim as a 90% chance of a poor result because he was afraid the jury would not think Faro had a substantial mental disability. Romani strongly advised that the case should be settled. He said the case definitely should not be tried. Client Faro disagreed and told Romani he wanted him to proceed with the trial. Romani's motion to withdraw stated only that there were "irreconcilable differences" which could not be resolved.

The hearing on the motion to withdraw was extremely brief. Despite Faro's objections through substitute counsel, Judge Burnstein merely stated that there were lots of other lawyers and Faro could certainly find one he could get along with. (R.367-69). Romani merely said that he was "[t]here on a motion to withdraw"

and the judge granted it automatically without the slightest question. (R.367-68).

The hearing on the motion to withdraw was on October 18, 1992 at which there was not the slightest indication that Romani would later contend that Faro's actions had caused him to withdraw and that these actions constituted "good cause" or a breach of the fee contract by Faro. It was always Faro's position that he wanted Romani to continue representing him even through trial and Romani admitted he simply did not want to proceed with the trial. (Tr.123-24).

Left without counsel at this critical stage Faro made several unsuccessful attempts to retain substitute counsel and there was some evidence of interference or at least a lack of cooperation by Attorney Romani. (Tr.159-60). Eventually, Faro retained attorney Susan Rosen to represent him and paid her a substantial attorney's fee. Ms. Rosen was a close personal friend of Faro's but there was no question as to her valuable services. (R.161). In January of 1992, after learning the case, reevaluating it, researching it, developing a strategy, and conducting motion practice, Ms. Rosen settled the case for a cash payment of \$725,000 which was \$125,000 more than the \$600,000 offer pending at the time of Attorney Romani's voluntary, and objected to withdrawal. (Tr.160-62, 166). Faro testified he believed Romani's withdrawal prejudiced his case, seriously undermined Ms. Rosen's efforts and coerced his acceptance of the \$725,000 offer which he believed was still substantially less than the true value of the case. (Tr.161-62). An expert at

the charging lien hearing would later evaluate the case at up to \$1 million. (Tr.67).

In spite of Romani's voluntary withdrawal over objection and substantially duplicated fees required by Ms. Rosen's the representation, Attorney Romani nonetheless sought to impose a charging lien in the amount of \$180,000 based on the Contingent Fee Contract. (R.325-26, 333-35). This was based upon the 30% figure in the Contingent Fee Contract, applied against the "\$600,000 offer" outstanding at the time of Romani's withdrawal. Client Faro understood this prior settlement to be (1) structured over time and (2) to already include Attorney Romani's "negotiated fee." (Tr.160, R.333-35). On February 12, 1992, Romani moved the trial court to determine the amount of his charging lien. (R.333-35). Client Faro objected and moved to vacate or discharge the lien. (R.327-29). The charging lien did not suggest any conduct by Faro as a breach of the fee contract. Further, Romani's pleading did not suggest that he would have been required to participate in any unethical conduct by proceeding to trial.

On June 1 and 2, the trial court held a hearing on these motions. (Tr.1-195). Romani and Faro both testified and each presented one attorney expert witness on fees. Client Faro, through counsel Walter G. Campbell, maintained that Romani's withdrawal was voluntary, unjustified, prejudicial, coercive and over his objections in the critical stage of negotiations on the eve of trial and that this conduct disentitled Romani to any fee whatsoever on any theory. (R.1-195). With respect to his reasons

for withdrawing, Attorney Romani testified to his belief that Client Faro was making an imprudent decision in refusing to authorize settlement and that Romani thought there was a 90% chance of a bad result during trial and that Faro's disability carrier might later deny benefits. He also said he thought Faro might sue him for legal malpractice if he lost the case. (R.122-23). Romani's testimony was in relevant part as follows:

He [Faro] wanted to be financially secure enough to retire basically and pursue a patent that he and some friends from the University of Florida ... was developing. I told him, I said if that's your agenda, then I am not going to be the one that's going to take you into the courtroom. (Tr.122).

* * *

I didn't think it was prudent for me or any other lawyer to risk substantial benefits that he was getting, because he wanted to retire. (Tr.122).

I said I think if you are not going to listen to my advice ... it is up to you to find a lawyer who will be prepared to risk the money you are being offered in this case ... not based upon the merits of this case but because you want to retire from the practice of law. If you can find somebody to represent you on that basis, go ahead and do it. But I said I'm not going to be the one to do [it] and I told him pointblank. (Tr.123)

That's when he started accusing me of not being prepared to try the case and things like that and that hurt me. (Tr.123).

I felt like he was trying to set me up for our legal malpractice carrier to be an additional carrier. (Tr.123).

I said if you can find somebody else to represent you on that basis, go ahead. That was essentially sort of the beginning of the end. At that point he became very alienated. I attempted to talk to him. I filed a motion to withdraw reluctantly, only after we determined the case would not be reached on that docket. (Tr.124). Based on this evidence the trial court entered an order granting Romani a fee of \$180,000. (R.362-64). The trial court made absolutely <u>no findings of fact</u> in the order -- stating only "that a reasonable fee . . . <u>based on quantum meruit and the</u> <u>contractual agreement of the parties</u> for the representation of John H. Faro, is \$180,000." (Emphasis added). (R.362-63).

Obviously 30% x 600,000 = 180,000 and Romani's sole expert stated his opinion that the contingency fee contract should govern and that Romani was entitled to be paid the 30% in the contingency contract. (Tr.25, 33). This expert, former circuit judge Henry Latimer, testified that a disagreement over settlement negotiations was an "irreconcilable difference", that Romani had to withdraw and that he should still be paid his full 30% fee on the 600,000offer. (Tr.25, 32, 33). This expert witness had been misinformed and all of his testimony was based on the false assumption that Faro had consented to Romani's withdrawal. (Tr.50-51). He was surprised to learn Faro had resisted the withdrawal and had wanted Romani to proceed with the trial. The district court opinion mentions this impeachment of Latimer.

When asked, for the <u>first time</u> on cross-examination to compute the fee pursuant to quantum meruit, this witness arrived at precisely the same \$180,000 figure by multiplying an <u>assumed</u> 400 hours x \$250 per hour resulting in a \$100,000 figure and then adding on an additional \$80,000 based on the "difficulty" of the case. (Tr.45). This witness testified that he had not the "slightest" idea whether 400 hours was reasonable for this case nor

did he testify that \$250 per hour was reasonable for Mr. Romani's services. (Tr.42, 55). He also had no idea whether Romani had actually spent his "rough estimate" of 400 hours. Romani had absolutely <u>no time records</u> and never kept time records on any contingency fee case. Romani made a rough guess at the hearing of 400 to 500 hours and his expert witness just accepted it. No documents were admitted in evidence as to the fee. Romani had his secretary review the file the night before the hearing and brought in a summary prepared by the secretary which was objected to and excluded from evidence. (Tr.126-27). Earlier requests by Faro's counsel for fee documentation had been refused. (Tr.127).

The order/judgment awarding the \$180,000 fee made no findings whatsoever and certainly none regarding hours or reasonable fee rates. The order states the fee is based on <u>both</u> the written contract and on quantum meruit. The court entered judgment for Romani in the amount of \$180,000 for fees plus interest and Faro appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The Amended Opinion Of The Fourth District Court Of Appeal

The opinion was based on the relatively simple set of facts that Attorney Romani withdrew over his client's objections halfway through the trial period of the third trial setting of the case. Counsel was completely prepared for trial at that time.

Faro hired new counsel who eventually settled the case. Before Romani's withdrawal, the defendant had offered \$600,000 and the case was eventually settled by new counsel for \$725,000. Romani filed a charging lien which did not assert any facts and did

not suggest Faro had breached the contingency fee contract in any way or that it would have been unethical for Romani to take the case to trial. Romani had told Faro that he was withdrawing because Romani did not want to "blindly" lead him into a trial he thought he might well lose. He also said that Faro had to accept his advice on settlement or he would quit. He did not say "quit and still get paid" and the charging lien was not filed until after the withdrawal.

After the brief hearing on the charging lien the trial court entered an order making absolutely no factual findings of any The trial judge simply set a fee for Romani at \$180,000 nature. representing the 30% contingency number from the contract applied against the \$600,000 settlement offer which Romani testified was on the table at the time of his withdrawal. The reason given to the trial judge during this brief hearing for the earlier withdrawal was that there had been a disagreement over settlement. (Tr.122-24). Romani's expert testified Romani was entitled to the \$180,000 fee based solely on the 30% in the contract. (Tr.25, 33). The subject of quantum meruit did not even come up until crossexamination of this expert when he was questioned and said that a quantum meruit fee would be exactly the same figure, \$180,000. (Tr.45).

Based on these simple facts, the district court issued its opinion stating that the trial judge "<u>found</u>" that Romani withdrew for "good cause" and that this "good cause" was "apart from or in addition to, disagreements over settlement negotiations". The

opinion also states that the trial judge made <u>no findings</u> as to the manner in which attorney's fees were computed.

The district court's opinion is difficult to understand because in fact Judge Burnstein made <u>absolutely no factual findings</u> on any issue whatsoever. She also did not state a conclusion that Romani had withdrawn for "good cause" and she did not say what that "good cause" might have been. She certainly did not make a finding that the "good cause" for withdrawal was something "apart from or in addition to" the dispute over settlement. There is not a hint that continued representation by Romani would have been impossible or unethical.

The opinion also concludes that Judge Burnstein did not apply the 30% contingency figure from the fee contract which would have been clear error. The opinion admits that this finding (by the appellate court) is "disputable" because rather obviously 30% x \$600,000 = \$180,000 and further because Judge Burnstein's order specifically states that the \$180,000 was based upon both quantum meruit and the contractual agreement between the parties. Further, Romani's expert had testified to \$180,000 based solely on the contract stating: "The reasonable value in my opinion would be the contract amount as called for in the contract." (Tr.25, 33). The district court held that none of this was enough to overcome the "presumption of correctness".

The district court opinion also concludes that there was expert testimony from the "appellant's [Faro's] expert" as to the reasonableness of the claimed \$180,000 fee. The opinion is

obviously in error here and must have been referring to Romani's expert rather than Faro's expert who in fact testified to 125 hours as being the proper amount of time to have spent on the case resulting in a fee of only \$30,000. (Tr.65). However, perhaps the court really meant "appellant's" expert because Mr. Romani's expert directly stated that he had <u>no opinion as to the reasonableness</u> of Mr. Romani's rough estimate of 400 hours given without the first shred of a time record. (Tr.42, 55). Romani stated that he never kept time records.

The district court concluded its opinion by noting the absence of any factual findings regarding computation of attorney's fees and the conflict among the district courts of appeal as to whether findings were necessary under <u>Florida Patients Compensation Fund v.</u> <u>Rowe</u>, 472 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1985). This conflict between the Third and Fourth Districts versus the First and Second Districts was certified for resolution by this court.

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