EVIED

# THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GLERK, BUPREME COURT

FEB ? 1994

Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN H. FARO,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,725

4TH DCA CASE NO. 92-1907

ROBERT V. ROMANI and FARISH, FARISH & ROMANI,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

S. Emory Rogers, Esquire Florida Bar No. 613861 FARISH, FARISH & ROMANI Denco Bldg.-316 Banyan Blvd. P. O. Box 4118 West Palm Beach, Florida 33402 407/659-3500

A STATE A TOOL BRIEF CONSISTENCY ROMAND, WE SEE STATE AS A STATE OF SOME

###

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

entitled to compensation up to the time of his or her consensual withdrawal from representation, if the attorney had been retained on an hourly basis. Fla. Jur 2d, "Attorneys at Law" § 146. It is also well established in this state, that an attorney who is discharged without cause in a contingency fee case, is entitled to compensation based on quantum meruit.

Rosenberg v. Levin, 409 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1982). The only Florida case dealing with a situation where an attorney withdraws as opposed to being discharged, also holds that the attorney is entitled to the value, in quantum meruit, of his services as limited by the contingency fee contract between

Solver to the Committee of the William Committee of the C

the parties. <u>Sanchez v. Friesner</u>, 477 So.2d 66 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). Although not ruling directly on this point, the Fifth District has also supported the view that provided an attorney has contributed to the client's eventual recovery, it would result as unjust enrichment to the client if the attorney was not granted fees in <u>quantum meruit</u>, in cases where the client terminates the agreement or if the case develops into a situation where the attorney has good cause or justification to withdraw. <u>Smith v. Parker</u>, 508 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

The position supported by both **Sanchez** and **Smith** and adopted by the Trial Court sub judice, is also the accepted standard for recovery under such circumstances, adopted by courts from across the country. New York has adopted the view that an attorney who was retained on a contingent fee basis and withdrew under appropriate circumstances, was entitled to a lien on any ultimate recovery in plaintiff's personal injury action to be fixed on a quantum meruit basis. Manufacturer's Hanover Trust Company, 507 N.Y.S.2d 610 (N.Y. 1986), Teichner v. W. & J. Holsteins, 489 N.Y.S.2d 36 (N.Y. 1985). In adopting this same view, Michigan recognized that the majority view is that an attorney on a contingent fee entitled arrangement who rightfully withdraws, is compensation for the reasonable value of his services based on Ambrose v. Detroit Edison Company, 237 quantum meruit. N.W.2d 520 (Mich. 1975). California has also looked upon this standard for recovery with favor. Hensel v. Cohen,

Cal.App.3d 565 (2nd District 1984). See also 7 Am Jur, 2d "Attorneys-at-law" § 262 and 88 A.L.R. 3d 246. Petitoner's repeated reliance on Mary Kay v. Home Depot, Inc., 18 F.L.W. D1800 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), is simply not supported. In this regard, the Fourth District said

"We have considered <u>Mary Kay v. Home Depot, Inc.</u>, and deem it inapposite, given the fact issue as to justification and good cause resolved by the Trial Court in this case."

The only dispute between client and attorney in the Mary Kay case was over the settlement value of the case. The Fourth District has affirmed the Trial Court's finding that Romani withdrew for good cause, which was in addition to a dispute over settlement.

Throughout Petitioner's Brief, they relied on argument that Romani had not withdrawn for good cause. issue has already been decided by the Trial and the Appellate Court. After arguing that Romani did not withdraw for good cause, Petitioner goes on to agree with the respondent and answered the certified question in the affirmative, that upon withdrawal for good cause an attorney is entitled to receipt of a fee based on quantum meruit. Petitioner cites as authority for that position, Suffolk Railroads, Inc. v. Minuse, 287 N.Y.S.2d 968 (Sup.Ct. 1968) and Estate of Falco, 233 Cal.Rep. 807 (Cal.2d DCA 1987). Apparently, Petitioner has no dispute with the Respondent that once there has been a finding of good cause for withdrawal, Romani was entitled to his fee based on quantum meruit. Their argument, therefore, in front of the District Court, was whether or not Judge

Bernstein abused her discretion in finding that he had good cause to withdraw. The Fourth District Court of Appeal expressly found that there was no abuse of discretion on behalf of the Trial Court. Clearly this certified question must be answered in the affirmative.

It is clear from a review of the transcript in this matter, that the conflicts between Faro and Romani started early in the course of Romani's representation of Faro and continued to build to such an extent that the Trial Court recognized that Romani had good cause to withdraw at the hearing on that Motion and at the fee hearing. (R.185). pointed out in Ambrose a client's refusal to accept a settlement offer cannot in and of itself constitute good cause for an attorney to withdraw from a case, but it may be one factor for the Court to consider in evaluating the client's cooperation with his attorney. That Court further recognized that refusal to accept a reasonable settlement offer without breakdown of legitimate reasons, the giving attorney/client relationship and the client's refusal to cooperate with his attorney, were sufficient to support the Trial Court's determination that the attorney had good cause to withdraw and recover a fee for his services, based on Further, the Court in Litman v. Fine, <u>quantum meruit</u>. Jacobson, Schwartz, Nash, Block & England, 517 So.2d 88 (Fla.3rd DCA 1987) recognized that the trier of fact, being most familiar with all of the facts and circumstances surrounding the case and the relationship between the clients

and the attorneys, is in the best position to determine whether or not, upon withdrawal, an attorney is entitled to compensation. Courts presume that when an attorney's representation of a client in a matter before it is terminated, his compensation will be based upon quantum meruit. Security Trust Company v. Grant, 155 So.2d 805 (Fla.3rd DCA 1963).

Petitioner tried to present an issue to this Court as to whether or not the contingency fee contract was unenforceable. Again, the certified questions presented to this Court, do not place this matter in issue. The Trial Court and the District Court of Appeal have both determined that the arguments against the enforceability of the contract simply do not have merit. It is clear that the Court accepted the argument presented by respondents, that the contract, when read in its entirety, as well as the circumstances surrounding the execution and the application of its terms to the parties, should be upheld rather than find it invalid or illegal, by giving it а fair, customary, rational and reasonable interpretation. Hoffman v. Robinson, 213 So.2d 267 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968), Quinerly v. Dundee, Corp., 31 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1947), Foster v. Jones, 349 So.2d 795 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1977) and Coast Cities Coaches, Inc. v. Whyte, 102 So.2d 848 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1958). Petitioner also ignores the clear and unambiguous language as contained in the client's Statements of Rights, which was signed contemporaneous with the contract and is part and parcel of the attorney/client relationship. These two

writings must be considered together when interpreting the McGee Interests, Inc. v. terms of this relationship. Alexander National Bank, 135 So. 545 (Fla. 1931). The cases cited by Petitioner in support of their position that the contract is void, all involve some element of fraud, duress or misrepresentation. In the case at bar there is no question that the contract was entered into freely and voluntarily. There was no fraud, duress or misrepresentation. Attorney Faro was given full disclosure and an opportunity to review all of the contracts terms and object to them. He failed to object until after he had received the full benefit of Romani's efforts and until it was time for Romani to be paid. (R.376-378). Thomas v. Ratiner, 462 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984), Jackson v. Griffith, 421 So.2d 677 (Fla.4th DCA 1982). statement of Faro's rights with regard to settlement could not be more clear than that provided by paragraph ten of the Statement of Rights, which provides

"You the client have the right to make final decision regarding settlement of your case... however, you must make the final decision to accept or reject settlement." (emphasis supplied)

II.

WHETHER FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND v. ROWE, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985), APPLIES TO A CLAIM FOR A REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE ASSERTED BY AN ATTORNEY AGAINST THE PARTY CONTRACTING WITH THE ATTORNEY, AS DISTINGUISHED FROM A CLAIM FOR FEES AGAINST A THIRD PARTY.

It is abundantly clear that the standard for recovery of attorneys' fees in a case such as this is controlled by

Rosenberg. Rowe, on the other hand, involved a completely different situation and a completely different set of equities and should not be applicable as the benchmark and methodology upon which to determine a reasonable fee for Romani's recovery, based on quantum meruit. A thorough reading of Rowe, Rosenberg and Rule 4-1.5 of the Rules regulating the Florida clearly latter Bar, shows that the are distinguishable from the former. The assessment of attorneys' fees against the unsuccessful litigant as in Rowe is purely a creature of statute. As discussed in Rowe, the assessment of fees could be viewed as a penalty or to discourage nonmeritorious claims. When the party upon whom fees are being assessed was not a participant in the fee agreement and did not benefit from the services of the attorney upon whom is now called to pay the Courts lack any benchmark or contract upon which to base their assessment of fees. Because of the statutory mandate to assess fees, Rowe has set forth the factors to be considered in assessing a fee against a nonprevailing litigant who is a third party the attorney/client relationship.

Although some of the elements cited in Rowe, Rosenberg and Rule 4-1.5, are similar, or even identical, they are not addressing the same basis for recovery. Rowe does not, at any point, discuss the concept of quantum meruit or establish that the Rowe criteria for determining fees is exactly equivalent to quantum meruit. Rosenberg, on the other hand, clearly establishes the basis for quantum meruit, in determining a fee

between the attorney and the attorney's client. A "reasonable fee" assessed against an unsuccessful litigant and third party to the fee contract, is not necessarily the same as a reasonable fee between an attorney and his client, based on Rule 4-1.5. The Rule does not refer to any contingency risk multipliers, but does go into the other factors which the Trial Court properly had before it, including the time and labor, novelty, complexity, difficulty, skill requisite to perform the legal service properly, the customary fee or rate of fee, the results obtained, the time limitations imposed by the client, the additional or special time demands of the client, the experience reputation, diligence and ability of the lawyer performing the services and whether or not the fees is fixed or contingent. Clearly when the Trial Court heard direct testimony from Faro that he paid his subsequent attorney, Susan Rosen, what amounted to Five Hundred Dollars 00/100 (\$500.00) per hour, it was within the discretion to determine that a reasonable fee for Romani's reasonable when the simple rate services was calculation was well below the rate Faro paid his subsequent attorney. Based on Rosenberg and the rule, the court is not bound to a simple rate x hours computation. Another consideration which the Trial Court had before it, which is not a factor when the fee is strictly hourly, are the results obtained. At the time of Romani's withdrawal, it is clear that if the offer had been acceptable to his client, he had ascertained a Six Hundred Thousand Dollar 00/100 (\$600,000.00)

It was also before the Court that settlement offer. eventually the client settled for Seven Hundred and Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 00/100 (\$725,000.00). The Trial Court had before it sufficient evidence to attribute the value or results obtained to each attorney participating, in proportion to the recovery obtained by Faro. In doing so, the Court properly recognized the value of the services provided and prevented any unjust enrichment on behalf of the client or the client's attorneys. It is also clear under Rule 4-1.5 sub-§ C, that an hourly rate times the customary fee need not be the sole or controlling factors. The rule provides that all factors set forth should be considered and may be applied in justifying a higher or lower fee, that would result from an application of only the time and rate factors. If the courts were bound to a simple rate x customary hourly fee, determine a reasonable compensation, there would be no reason for the rule to require consideration of all of the other relevant factors and there would be no reason for the rule to include as a factor to determine the amount of reasonable compensation, Section(B)(8); whether or not the fee is fixed or contingent. In assessing reasonable attorneys' fees to compensate an attorney for services rendered to his own client, the court is free to apply all of these factors to determine a reasonable compensation for the services provided. Regardless off whether these factors raise or lower the ultimate recovery of the attorney, which would have been based strictly on a rate x hour computation. This application of

the rule, as an element of recovery in quantum meruit was clearly recognized in Trend Coin Company v. Fuller, Feingold & Mallah, 538 So.2d 919 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989). Trend Coin Company properly recognized that Rowe had no application and that the criteria for determining the fee was based on the factors set forth in Rule 4-1.5. There is no need to make specific findings of fact when the parties to the disagreement have previously come to a mutual understanding of the terms of their employment and those terms are further limited or modified by Rule 4-1.5. Trend Coin Company recognized that all of the factors considered in Rule 4-1.5 were relevant, when they found that the fee amounting to Three Thousand Dollars 00/100 (\$3,000.00) per hour was excessive, but did not require that the Trial Court enter findings as to hours and rate of compensation as the sole basis for determining a reasonable fee on quantum meruit. When all factors of Rule 4-1.5 and Rosenberg are considered, it is clear that a simple rate x hours computation is not the exclusive basis for determining a reasonable attorney's fee based on quantum Rowe does not apply and specific findings are, meruit. therefore, not required.

The charging lien process clearly does not violate the due process rights of the client. The record supports the fact that Faro had full discovery available to him. His attorneys chose the methods of discovery they deemed appropriate, which included the hiring of an expert to review all of Romani's files and taking two depositions. The only

part of the process that is different from any other trial matter is that there is no jury trial procedure. Jury trials are not guaranteed in every procedure before the Court and the lack thereof does not necessarily equate to a denial of due The equitable determination of attorneys fees is properly before a court in equity and before the Judge who presided over the underlying case. There is no one in a better position understand the progress of the case relationship of the parties and the reasonableness of a fee, than the Judge who presided over the underlying case upon which or from which a fee dispute arises. Litman, Kozich v. Kozich, 501 So.2d 1386 (Fla.4th DCA 1987). Petitioner cites the lack of availability of legal motions or rules of evidence, however, it is clear from the motion practice which was presented before the Court and the hearing which was held by the Court, that motion practice was allowed and rules of evidence clearly applied. Petitioner alleges that a charging lien process was created by lawyers to favor lawyers, however, just because it is before the same Judge that heard the underlying case, does not necessarily bode well with the attorney, in fact, it could very likely go against an attorney who had been less than candid, forthright or respectful to the Trial Court, just like it could go against a client who the court believes has been less than candid. Additionally, to require a second lawsuit is contrary to public policy of avoiding multiplicity of suits.

The District Court cites as a conflict, Barton v.

The Carlo Delegation to the Africa War of PALIS TO ACAD. I

McGovern, 504 So.2d 457 (Fla.1st DCA 1987). Barton is not in conflict with the opinion of the Fourth District or the arguments expressed herein. Barton involved a dissolution of marriage, not a personal injury on a contingency fee. Unlike the case sub judice, rate x hours clearly applied in the dissolution case and was, therefore, the only reasonable and ethical basis to determine a fee in that case.

AND THE ARREST A COMMITTER ALL STEELING BY ACCUSE OF THE

# CONCLUSION

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